

Accelerating anaemia reduction

A comprehensive framework for action





Accelerating anaemia reduction

A comprehensive framework for action Accelerating anaemia reduction: a comprehensive framework for action

ISBN 978-92-4-007403-3 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-007404-0 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Accelerating anaemia reduction: a comprehensive framework for action. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Foreword	iv
Preface	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Introduction	1
Rationale for a comprehensive framework for accelerating anaemia reduction	4
Added value	5
Objectives	5
Intended audience	5
Development process	6
Action areas for accelerating anaemia reduction	6
Action area 1. Analyse data on causes and risk factors	8
Action area 2. Prioritize key preventive and therapeutic interventions	9
Action area 3. Optimize service delivery across platforms and sectors	12
Action area 4. Strengthen leadership, communication and coordination, and governance at all levels	13
Action area 5. Expand research, learning and innovation	13
Path forward	17
Key messages	18
References	19
Selected further reading	24
Annex. WHO recommended interventions by outcome	26
Table A1. Recommended interventions to improve micronutrient status (Outcome	1) 26
Table A2. Recommended interventions to reduce infection, inflammation, and chronic diseases (Outcome 2)	29
Table A3. Recommended interventions to reduce gynaecological and obstetric conditions (for example, abnormal uterine bleeding) (Outcome 3)	32
Table A4. Recommended interventions to improve screening and management of inherited red blood cell disorders (Outcome 4)	33

Web Annex. WHO recommendations for the prevention, diagnosis and management of anaemia

Foreword

Accelerating action on anaemia is foundational for the health and well-being of children, adolescents, and women. Currently, an estimated 571 million women and 269 million young children face serious health problems due to anaemia. These include an increased risk of infections and death, impaired cognitive performance, extreme fatigue, poor pregnancy outcomes, loss of earnings, and poorer growth and development. The health, development and economic consequences of anaemia affect individuals, families, communities, and societies.

The burden is unevenly distributed, with higher prevalence in low- and middle-income countries and communities. The situation has been exacerbated by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and by humanitarian crises caused by war and natural disasters. These in turn cause disruptions to health services, education, and social protection systems, and increase poverty and food insecurity. Conversely, reducing anaemia in women may contribute to reducing gender wage gaps and help some women and their families escape poverty.

The World Health Organization (WHO) is committed to supporting the efforts of its Member States to achieve the World Health Assembly global target to halve anaemia prevalence in women of reproductive age by 2025. Given that the causes and risk factors for anaemia are complex and diverse, and prevalence appears to have changed little in the past 20 years, accelerating anaemia reduction requires renewed dedication and a coordinated, multipronged approach.

At the Nutrition for Growth Summit in 2021, WHO committed to developing a comprehensive framework for action to prevent, diagnose and manage anaemia. We also agreed to work with UNICEF and partners to establish an Anaemia Action Alliance to support the implementation of the framework and drive progress toward national and global goals. WHO set up an initiative bringing together five different areas of work including nutrition and food safety, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health, sexual and reproductive health, malaria and neglected tropical diseases, as well as other technical areas that contribute to the understanding of anaemia.

A key theme throughout this document is that progress in reducing anaemia depends on the meaningful participation of stakeholders at all levels, including national and local governments, educational institutions, civil society organizations, food producers, and local and international organizations. WHO remains committed to reducing the prevalence and severity of anaemia in women, adolescent girls, and children, as part of our shared efforts to build a healthier and safer future for everyone, everywhere.

Cech foll

Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus Director-General World Health Organization

Preface

This document is an output of a WHO cross-programme initiative aiming to improve the prevention, diagnosis and management of anaemia and thereby accelerate reduction in its prevalence.

It comes at an important time, midway through the era of the Sustainable Development Goals, when progress in reducing anaemia has stagnated. This framework is based on the core principles of primary health care: meeting people's health needs through comprehensive promotive, protective, curative, and rehabilitative care along the life course; systematically addressing the broader determinants of health; and empowering individuals, families, and communities to optimize their health.

Iron deficiency is the most common and commonly recognized cause of anaemia and, to date, most work on addressing anaemia has been focused on the prevention and treatment of iron deficiency. However, anaemia is a complex condition with multiple causes - including other nutritional deficiencies, infections, inflammation, gynaecological and obstetric conditions, and inherited red blood cell disorders — requiring a multisectoral approach, building on existing interventions, to make progress against the global target. This document is relevant to the prevention, diagnosis and management of all forms of anaemia. It covers anaemia due to micronutrient deficiencies, inflammation, infection, obstetric and gynaecological disorders, and inherited blood disorders, acknowledging the important role of social determinants of health and the challenges in accurately measuring haemoglobin concentrations and indicators of the underlying causes of anaemia. It consolidates the evidence and describes how multiple sectors can work together to identify and address key barriers and seize opportunities to reduce the burden of anaemia. While the main focus is on menstruating women and adolescents, pregnant and postpartum women, and children, in lowand middle-income countries, several interventions also benefit populations across the life course and around the world.

This document will be complemented by operational guidance and a monitoring framework that will elaborate on how to strengthen multisectoral responses and implement actions in a coordinated and comprehensive way. By leveraging the evidence, actions and resources in this document, we can further accelerate anaemia reduction. We must all work together to ensure that women, adolescent girls and children affected by anaemia receive the care and support they need and deserve.

Pascale Allotey Director, Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research World Health Organization

Anshu Banerjee Director, Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing World Health Organization

Tran

Francesco Branca Director, Department of Nutrition and Food Safety World Health Organization

& Souting

Ibrahima Socé Fall Director, Global Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programme World Health Organization

Daniel Ngamije Director, Global Malaria Programme World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

WHO is grateful to the members of the interdepartmental working group that have contributed to the development of this document, including: Anshu Banerjee and Ameena Goga (WHO Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing); Francesco Branca, Maria Nieves Garcia Casal, and Laurence Grummer-Strawn (WHO Department of Nutrition and Food Safety); Pascale Allotey, Olufemi Oladapo, and Özge Tunçalp (Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research); Pedro Alonso, Andrea Bosman, and Daniel Ngamije (WHO Global Malaria Programme); Gautam Biswas, Daniel Dagne, Ibrahima Socé Fall, the late Mwelecele Ntuli Malecela, and Antonio Montresor (WHO Global Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programme).

The development process was coordinated by Lisa Rogers (WHO Department of Nutrition and Food Safety) with the support of Shelby Wilson (WHO consultant). Cathy Wolfheim (WHO contractor) provided technical writing and editorial support.

WHO would also like to thank the members of the Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts on Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent health and nutrition (STAGE). Special appreciation is extended to the members of the STAGE working group on anaemia for their vital contributions to the development of this framework through participation at meetings held virtually and/or at WHO headquarters in November 2021, May 2022, July 2022, October 2022, November 2022, March 2023, and April 2023: Narendra Arora (chair; India), Zulfigar Bhutta (Canada), Fred Binka (Ghana), Mariam Claeson (Sweden), Helen Cox (South Africa), Theresa Gyorkos (Canada), Dalia Haroun (United Arab Emirates), Caroline Homer (Australia), Ipsita Parida (USA), Daniel Raiten (USA), Laura Reichenbach (USA), Marie Ruel (USA), Harshpal Sachdev (India), Stephanie Topp (Australia), Peter Waiswa (Republic of Uganda), Dilys Walker (USA), Joyce Wamoyi (United Republic of Tanzania), Jennifer Yourkavitch (USA), and Stanley Zlotkin (Canada). All information concerning the STAGE members is available at this link.

WHO is grateful to ministries of health of participating Member States and the country teams who participated in consultations, and to WHO regional colleagues who contributed to the development of the framework: Hana Bekele and Laetitia Ouedraogo Nikiema (WHO Regional Office for Africa); Leo Nederveen (WHO Regional Office for the Americas); Ayoub Al-Jawaldeh (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean); Pyi Pyi Phyo and Holly Ripkin (WHO Regional Office for Europe); Angela de Silva (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia); and Juliawati Untoro (WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific). WHO also extends thanks to other agencies in the Global Health Partnership H6 (UNAIDS, UN WOMEN, UNFPA, UNICEF, and the World Bank) and partners of the Anaemia Action Alliance, particularly the authors of background papers informing the development of this framework.

Lastly, WHO thanks the following for their meaningful contributions: Kapil Yadav (All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India); Maria Elena Jefferds (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA); Imelda Angeles-Agdeppa (Food and Nutrition Research Institute, the Philippines); Frank Wieringa (Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, France); Nelly Zavaleta (Instituto de Investigación Nutricional, Peru); Mandana Arabi, Daniel Lopez de Romaña, and Alison Mildon (Nutrition International, Canada); Andreas Hasman and Linda Shaker (UNICEF, USA); Sonja Hess (University of California-Davis, USA); Denish Moorthy (USAID-Advancing Nutrition, USA); Sant-Rayn Pasricha (Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia); Hannah Yankson (WHO, Sierra Leone); Valentina Baltag, Prerna Banati, María Barreix, Elaine Borghi, Jane Cunningham, Regina Guthold, Kate Medlicott, Jin Ni, Annie Portela, and Beena Varghese (WHO, Switzerland).

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation contributed funding to this work.

Introduction

Anaemia is a strong indicator of overall health (Box 1). It persists as a major public health concern, mainly affecting infants and young children, pregnant and postpartum women, and menstruating adolescent girls and women. It is most prevalent in low-and middle-income countries, particularly populations living in conditions of poverty or social exclusion (1).

Globally, it is estimated that in 2019, 40% of all children aged 6–59 months, 37% of pregnant women and 30% of women 15–49 years of age were affected by anaemia (9). The WHO African Region and WHO South-East Asia Region are the regions most affected (**Fig. 1**). For all population groups combined, it is estimated that nearly one quarter of the world's population, or 1.8 billion people, suffered from some form of anaemia in 2019 (10).

BOX 1

Anaemia

a condition in which the number of red blood cells or the haemoglobin concentration is lower than normal (1). The effects of anaemia include fatigue, decreased productivity, poor cognitive and motor development in children, poor birth outcomes, and increased morbidity and mortality (2–8). Whether moderate or severe, anaemia can also worsen the effects of other illnesses.

Fig. 1. Prevalence of anaemia in children 6–59 months of age, 2019



In addition to being a fundamental health issue, anaemia has important economic consequences for individuals, families, communities and countries. Anaemia can cause fatigue and lead to lower productivity (7, 12). It is estimated that for every US\$ 1 invested in interventions aimed at reducing anaemia in women, such as iron and folic acid supplementation for non-pregnant and pregnant women, intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy and fortification of cereals with iron, \$12 in economic returns could be produced (13).

Advancement towards global targets is slow. The 65th World Health Assembly committed to, by 2025, cutting by half the prevalence of anaemia in women of reproductive age (14). This target aligns with the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which include an indicator on anaemia in the same population group (15).

Sadly, the prevalence of anaemia has stagnated and the world is not on track for reaching these targets (9) (**Fig. 2**). Moreover, progress in reducing anaemia has been much slower, less than half the pace compared to other indicators for nutrition, child and maternal health (9, 16–18).

Strategies to reduce anaemia will now require a significantly different approach. This framework on anaemia reduction describes the necessarily comprehensive approach that brings together multiple sectors and actors. It lays out five key action areas to improve the coverage and uptake of interventions that will lead to four main desired outcomes (Fig. 3). These outcomes will in turn lead to improved physiological mechanisms that result in reduced anaemia and improved overall health and well-being.



Fig. 2. Insufficient progress in reducing anaemia prevalence in women 15-49 years of age, 2000-2019

Source: Global Health Observatory, World Health Organization (11).

Fig. 3. Framework for accelerating anaemia reduction



Rationale for a comprehensive framework for accelerating anaemia reduction

Anaemia has a complex etiology, with multiple possible causes and risk factors. The most common and commonly recognized cause is iron deficiency, which is estimated to contribute to anywhere from about 10% to over 60% of anaemia cases, depending on the population group and context (19–21). To date, most work on addressing anaemia has been focused on the prevention and treatment of iron deficiency; however, other nutritional deficiencies, malaria and other infections including parasitic diseases, chronic diseases, inflammation, gynaecological and obstetric conditions, and inherited red blood cell disorders all play important roles in anaemia prevalence (6,7,10).

These direct causes of anaemia are exacerbated by immediate risk factors, underlying risk factors, and fundamental drivers related to broader social inequities (see **Fig. 4**)¹. Both the causes and risk factors will need to be considered and addressed simultaneously to effectively control anaemia. The relative role of each will differ from one setting to another, meaning that approaches to controlling anaemia must be tailored to local situations.





Sources: adapted from (6,22).

¹ In this document, "causes" refer to the direct causes of anaemia and "risk factors" include the immediate risk factors, underlying risk factors, and fundamental drivers.

Added value

Acknowledging that health remains the predominant sector for delivering many of the recommended interventions, this framework was developed based on the core principles of primary health care, which explicitly comprises multisectoral action (23). It recognizes that accelerating the reduction of anaemia requires coordinated action across sectors such as food and agriculture, environment, education and social protection. It also highlights the importance of taking a comprehensive approach within the broader context of promoting gender equality, empowerment of women and girls, a focus on infants and young children, on greater equity, poverty eradication, inclusive economic growth, and the protection of human rights.

There are widespread challenges to - and opportunities for – using a broader and more inclusive approach to anaemia control. Experts and stakeholders propose various ways forward, including improving education and raising awareness about anaemia, cultivating national and local collaboration among sectors, strengthening food systems and promoting innovation for better service delivery (24,25). Community engagement is fundamental. Stakeholders also stress the need for greater accountability for intervention coverage at population level, stronger intersectoral collaboration, and discernment in the use of resources. Programmes should work on changing misperceptions about anaemia, addressing social norms through social and behaviour change communication and promoting community participation through primary health care. It should be noted that strengthening delivery platforms for anaemia will simultaneously strengthen the delivery of other interventions.

Objectives

This framework proposes strategic, effective and implementable actions which, by leading to the reduction of anaemia, will improve health and accelerate progress toward national and global targets.

The framework brings to light the persistent issue of anaemia and suggests essential action areas and interventions to address it, based on country-specific data and available delivery platforms. It provides information to support discussion among political and health leaders, helping to create a shared understanding and build commitment among local and national leaders for strengthening the multisectoral response to reducing anaemia.

This work leverages global guidelines and consolidates the evidence for decision-makers, providing a menu of strategies that countries can tailor to their specific contexts to advocate for investment in reducing anaemia. Interventions will need to be prioritized according to the most significant local contributors to anaemia, and the associated relative cost-effectiveness or value for money of these interventions. These considerations will link with other criteria such as equity, as prioritized by member states, and affordability.

Intended audience

The framework will support political leaders, health leaders and programme managers who make decisions about planning, prioritization, coordination, human resource allocation, fund distribution, and communication. It may also be helpful to government departments and ministries outside of the formal health system, in particular those dealing with education, food and agriculture, environment including water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), labour, trade and industry, social protection, and finance.

Lastly, it can serve to inform and support decisions made by organizations, foundations and individuals who support countries and/or fund implementation research to reduce malnutrition, malaria, other parasitic infections, and chronic diseases.

Development process

The development of this framework was led by the WHO interdepartmental working group on anaemia, bringing together different areas of work such as nutrition and food safety, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health, sexual and reproductive health, malaria, neglected tropical diseases, and others. Existing WHO guidance provided the basis of the document, bringing together recommendations from the different programme areas that influence anaemia. WHO commissioned four background papers on priority topics for anaemia (determinants, diagnostics, preventive and therapeutic interventions, and programmes for their implementation) to inform on the major challenges and potential ways forward in each respective area.

The framework was developed through a consultative process that involved regional webinars and meetings with WHO regional and country staff, stakeholders and experts in related areas including, but not limited to, those listed above. The process also involved consideration of input from global experts through three online consultations with the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts (STAGE) on Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Nutrition, and four online consultations with the STAGE working group on anaemia. The framework therefore reflects the perspectives of a wide range of stakeholders.

All members of STAGE and the working group on anaemia provided their declaration of interest, which was reviewed by the WHO Secretariat. Twelve members had declared potential conflicts of interest, mainly related to grants received by their institutions for doing research in their area of expertise. None of the reported interests were perceived to have any impact on the members' ability to provide objective and impartial contribution to this work. Declarations of interest were not collected from other stakeholders and experts and their input was considered with the understanding that there may be conflicts of interest.

Action areas for accelerating anaemia reduction

This framework proposes that the key outcomes related to the direct causes of anaemia (see **Box 2**) be addressed by five action areas. These action areas are: 1) analyse data on causes and risk factors for anaemia; 2) prioritize key preventive and therapeutic interventions; 3) optimize service delivery across platforms and sectors; 4) strengthen leadership, coordination, and governance at all levels; 5) expand research, learning and innovation. Interventions under each action area should be sustainable, and designed to influence impact, equity and coverage. Given programmatic and financial realities, programme managers and decision makers will be called on to prioritize effective interventions, in terms of scope and timing. All five action areas will need to be addressed for success. The first three are sequential and are supported by the last two. All action areas are supported by continued monitoring and evaluation, which will look at haemoglobin concentrations, causes and risk factors of anaemia, and operational issues.



Key outcomes related to the direct causes of anaemia

Outcome 1: Improved micronutrient status

Iron deficiency is the most common nutritional deficiency leading to anaemia. Inadequate dietary iron intake is the primary pathway leading to iron deficiency anaemia. Deficiencies in folate, vitamin B12, vitamin A and riboflavin can also result in anaemia due to their specific roles in the synthesis of haemoglobin and/or erythrocyte production. Additional mechanisms include nutrient losses (for example, blood loss from parasitic infections, haemorrhage associated with childbirth, or menstrual loss), impaired absorption, low iron stores at birth, and nutrient interactions.

Outcome 2: Reduced infection, inflammation and chronic diseases

Infections are another important cause of anaemia, and this is directly related to the geographical burden of infectious diseases, such as malaria, tuberculosis, HIV and parasitic infections. Infections can impair nutrient absorption and metabolism (for example, malaria, ascariasis) or can cause nutrient loss (for example, schistosomiasis, hookworm infection). These infections, malaria in particular, and some chronic conditions (for example, kidney disease, cancer, diabetes, obesity) cause inflammation that can lead to anaemia that is immune-driven, known as anaemia of inflammation or anaemia of chronic disease. HIV infection causes anaemia through a wide range of mechanisms including ineffective erythrocyte production, haemolysis, blood loss, and side effects of drug treatment, while tuberculosis patients may suffer from anaemia caused by chronic inflammation.

Outcome 3: Reduced gynaecological and obstetric conditions

Regular menstrual losses, maternal blood volume expansion during pregnancy, and blood loss during and after childbirth, particularly in cases of postpartum haemorrhage, commonly lead to anaemia (26, 27). Every year about 14 million women primarily in low- and middle-income countries suffer from postpartum haemorrhage (28). Anaemia increases the risk of mortality: the odds of maternal death are twice that in women with severe anaemia compared with those without severe anaemia (29).

Outcome 4: Improved screening and management of inherited red blood cell disorders

Inherited red blood cell disorders are important causes of anaemia in some parts of the world, especially where malaria is or has previously been endemic. Some of these conditions affect haemoglobin production, either the quantity (for example, α - and β -thalassemia) or quality (for example, sickle cell disorders). Being a carrier of α - and β -thalassemia is fairly common among populations living in Africa, Asia and the Western Pacific, as well as among people with ancestry from these regions. This may cause reduced haemoglobin concentrations. Homozygous or compound heterozygous states may cause disease of variable but often profound severity (transfusion dependent thalassaemia, non-transfusion dependent thalassaemia such as haemoglobin H disease, sickle cell disease); these will require specialist care. Screening for these disorders in populations is important for understanding their contribution to anaemia prevalence, which in turn may influence how other interventions (iron supplementation) may be prioritized. Individuals who carry these mutations may require appropriate genetic counselling. Other disorders may affect red cell enzymes (glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency) or the red cell membrane (South-East Asian ovalocytosis).

BOX 2

Action area 1. Analyse data on causes and risk factors

Anaemia is clearly a consequence of poor nutrition. It is also an effect of physiological, social, and environmental circumstances. Physiologically, anaemia can be caused by micronutrient deficiencies, inadequate diet (or the inadequate absorption of nutrients), infections, inflammation, chronic diseases, gynaecological and obstetric conditions, and inherited red blood cell disorders.

There are powerful social and environmental risk factors that need to be considered when addressing anaemia. The most flagrant are poverty, gender inequality, climate change (see **Box 3**), and inequitable access to health services and education. Minority groups are often at increased risk, while gender inequalities increase the risk of anaemia for women and adolescent girls.

Because of the complexity of issues underlying anaemia prevalence, the collection, analysis and use of data for understanding the causes and risk factors in any specific setting require bringing together information from different sources (22,35). While this can be a challenge, getting the right data is essential to identifying how best to intervene. These data should be complemented by knowledge of local traditions and practices that may influence the uptake of specific interventions. For example, taboos around dietary practices during specific stages of life, such as pregnancy, may prevent the uptake of important nutrition interventions.

As the assessment of multiple indicators to inform the origin of anaemia can be costly and cumbersome, innovation in diagnostic tools is needed for responding to local needs, particularly in lower resource settings. Guidance on the assessment of haemoglobin concentrations, as well as some of the main drivers of anaemia have been provided by WHO (7,36,37). Tools are also available to help understand local causes and risk factors. One example is the Anaemia Landscape Analysis tool, developed by USAID's Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations for Nutrition Globally (SPRING) Project. This tool aims to help guide countries in designing their anaemia programmes based on

BOX 3

How climate change can affect anaemia

Rising temperatures and extreme weather events can create conditions that facilitate the spread of infectious diseases, some of which also cause anaemia (for example, malaria and schistosomiasis). Climate change leads to changes in vector distribution and ecology. It may cause the disruption of healthcare services (30-32) and it can threaten food security and high-quality diets through reduced water quality, altered food production, decreased crop yield, and rising food prices (33,34).

local data (38,39). Questionnaires are used to gather pertinent information on (i) the prevalence of anaemia and coverage of key anaemia-related interventions; (ii) the status of programmes related to nutrition, disease control, water and sanitation, reproductive health, agriculture and genetic counselling and management; and (iii) the strategies and policies enacted related to anaemia.

Dietary assessment data are also useful for assessing risk, given the importance of nutrient deficiencies in the etiology of anaemia. The Global Diet Quality Score (GDQS), developed by the Intake Project, offers countries a method to understand what people eat and to design policies and programmes to promote healthy and sustainable diets (40). The GDQS measures diet quality by gathering information on both the consumption of food groups that contribute to nutrient adequacy and the dietary risk factors associated with non-communicable diseases across a variety of global dietary patterns. The GDQS telephone application was developed to provide a low-cost, streamlined method for collecting routine population-level data on diets.

Action area 2. Prioritize key preventive and therapeutic interventions

Once there is a clear understanding of the causes and risk factors of anaemia within a country or subnational area, there is a considerable range of effective interventions to choose from to improve haemoglobin concentrations and reduce anaemia prevalence (43). These interventions target both causes and risk factors. They include:

- improving the consumption of specific micronutrients, specifically iron, folate, vitamin B12, vitamin A, and riboflavin, as well as other micronutrients, through dietary diversification, food fortification, and supplementation;
- preventing malaria (insecticide-treated nets, indoor residual spraying, malaria chemoprevention);
- ensuring early diagnosis and effective treatment of malaria;
- preventing and treating infections caused by soil-transmitted helminths and schistosomiasis;
- preventing and managing gastrointestinal or chronic diseases such as obesity;
- promoting birth spacing and voluntary use of modern contraceptives;
- managing certain gynaecological and obstetric conditions such as heavy menstrual bleeding, antepartum or postpartum haemorrhage, unnecessary caesarean section (44), and delaying umbilical cord clamping following childbirth; and,
- managing inherited red blood cell disorders such as sickle-cell disease and thalassemias.

The principal response to addressing the public health problem of anaemia has been to provide iron to populations at risk, primarily women and children. This is often through the use of supplements, food fortification, or multiple micronutrient powders. Where iron and other micronutrient deficiencies are prevalent due to inadequate intake, these strategies can be effective. However, the coverage and quality of these interventions is typically low (45-47) and additional, more sustainable interventions are required to maximize the uptake of the nutrients and address other causes and risk factors. This may be as straightforward as promoting healthy diets based on locally available sources of bioavailable iron and other micronutrients (9).

An increasing number of countries are incorporating interventions beyond those limited to iron deficiency into larger national nutrition plans. Others have been developing national anaemia policies and strategies that cover several sectors (48,49).

A more complete illustration of the range of interventions available is presented in **Fig. 5**; a list of interventions by outcome can be found in the **Annex**. Fig. 5. Interventions to reduce anaemia by sector

Labor, Trade & Industry

- Promote girls' and women's economic empowerment
- Workplace screening for anaemia, nutrition education and provision of nutritious meals
- Raise public awareness about anaemia

Health & Nutrition

- Promote healthy diets through behaviour change communication
- Improve micronutrient intakes (micronutrient powders and supplements)
- Improve menstrual health
- Screen for and manage haemoglobinopathies
- Prevent, diagnose and treat malaria, HIV, TB, and other infections
- Prevent, diagnose and treat soil-transmitted helminths and schistosomiasis
- Manage heavy menstrual bleeding
- Promote birth spacing, access to and voluntary use of modern contraceptives
- Prevent and treat antenatal and postpartum haemorrhage
- Reduce unnecessary caesarean section
- Delay umbilical cord clamping following childbirth
- Improve access to safe blood and blood products for transfusion in the treatment of severe anaemia
- Prevent, screen and treat for chronic diseases

Food & Agriculture

- Increase production and promotion of nutrient-rich foods
- Create an enabling food environment for healthy dietary practices
- Fortify staple foods with micronutrients
- Promote safe food production and handling



Education

- Promote girls' and women's general education and education on nutrition and reproductive health
- Public health and health care provider messaging about causes and consequences of anaemia
- Public awareness about inherited red blood cell disorders
- Social and behaviour change communication strategies
- Provision of nutritious school meals

Water, sanitation & hygiene (WASH)

- Improve access to safe drinking water
- Promote hand hygiene
- Strengthen safe sanitation systems and practices (access to and use of toilets that safely contain excreta; access to safe systems along the entire sanitation service chain)

Social protection

- Promote gender equality and women's empowerment (including education and income-generating activities, cash or food transfers with behaviour change communication)
- Improve access to quality health care services and interventions
- Promote core components of the right to health (availability, accessibility, acceptability, quality)
- Provide vouchers for nutritious foods

Action area 3. Optimize service delivery across platforms and sectors

After prioritizing the relevant interventions that address the local causes and risk factors of anaemia, coordination must be done with the appropriate implementing sectors. In some cases, interventions can be integrated into existing delivery platforms or programmes. Other situations may require increased coordination with complementary interventions, or simply the co-location of interventions and service delivery.

It is crucial that synergistic efforts are made across health and all other sectors to address the risk factors and improve the quality and coverage of interventions, to reduce fragmentation, to track progress and to optimize the impact of each intervention.

A 2020 review of efforts to reduce anaemia in women reported better results when programmes worked through several sectors at once (8). When coordination of programmes was poor, it was difficult to track progress. Intersectoral approaches will likely require changes in the way the health sector operates.

Building programming across sectors can include incorporating anaemia interventions into antenatal care, community outreach activities, school programmes and child health days (see **Box 4**). Interventions can also be effective in the workplace, particularly in those situations with a high proportion of women. In malaria-endemic areas, it is useful to integrate interventions that address both anaemia and malaria.

Key elements of prior country success include having a high-calibre champion for anaemia (for example the prime minister); synergistic relationships within sectors; and clear knowledge, coordination and accountability of the various ministries and departments involved (8).

Programmes will need a monitoring and evaluation plan to ensure that interventions are being delivered successfully. Existing monitoring and evaluation frameworks such as the Logic model for micronutrient interventions in public health, and reference manual for malaria

BOX 4

Examples of anaemia-related interventions delivered through existing structures and programmes

Community engagement: Prevent early marriage and early onset of childbearing, prevent and treat chronic diseases and common illnesses, promote diet diversity, iron and folic acid supplementation (IFAS), distribute insecticide-treated nets (ITN), water, sanitation and hygiene (VVASH).

Basic health care for pregnant and postpartum women: Intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy (IPTp), delayed cord clamping, treat heavy menstrual bleeding, prevent postpartum haemorrhage, screen for anaemia.

Hospitals/specialist health care: Blood transfusions, availability of safe blood products, monitor the rates of caesarean sections.

Child health days: Health promotion, vitamin A and iron supplementation, ITN, preventive chemotherapy (deworming) for soil-transmitted helminthiases (STH), raise awareness about anaemia, provide counselling, WASH.

School-based programmes: promote girls' education, healthy meals, fortified foods, IFAS, preventive chemotherapy (deworming) for STH and schistosomiasis, malaria control, WASH.

Workplace: raise awareness and screen female employees for anaemia, provide healthy meals, fortified foods, WASH, IFAS

Malaria programmes: ITN, IPTp, indoor residual spraying.

surveillance, monitoring and evaluation (50–52) focus primarily on the nutrition component. Guidance is needed on the selection of appropriate indicators for comprehensive multisectoral programmes aimed at reducing anaemia. The indicators are not likely to be novel and should be based upon existing frameworks, such as for neglected tropical diseases (53).

Action area 4. Strengthen leadership, communication and coordination, and governance at all levels

Sustainable and sustained work on reducing anaemia, especially across sectors, requires strong commitment, leadership, coordination, and communication. This is easy to recognize, and at the same time often challenging to develop and maintain. One way to hold leaders accountable is to incorporate shared tasks and indicators into workplans across sectors.

Leaders deserve to adequately understand the magnitude and gravity of anaemia, its causes and risk factors, and what can be done about it. Leaders are responsible for the well-being of their populations, and they are accountable to the global community. Reaching the national targets and international goals for anaemia reduction demonstrates their commitment to improving the health of their population (see **Box 5**).

Communication for social and behaviour change has many possible roles. It can serve to raise the awareness of politicians and other leaders and provide an understanding of causes and consequences of anaemia. It can affect social norms such as gender inequality or household distribution of food. It can also promote widespread behaviours to reduce infections and improve nutrient intakes through the consumption of specific foods, as well as the better use of health services.

At the global level, the Anaemia Action Alliance brought together by UNICEF and WHO includes members from intergovernmental agencies, non-governmental agencies, academic institutions and philanthropic foundations. One task of the Alliance is to support countries to implement multisectoral plans. It also works to raise awareness about the importance and impact of anaemia, and to ensure that the multiple causes and risk factors are recognized. The global Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) movement plays a strong role in supporting the development of national nutrition plans and in bringing actors together to better coordinate actions.

Encouragingly, there is an increase in the number of countries that are developing national anaemia policies and/or strategies, or incorporating anaemia prevention and control within larger multisectoral nutrition plans. **Box 6** presents the case of India. As another example, building on the foundation laid by the National Anaemia Policy, the Government of Uganda established a National Anaemia Working Group (NAWG) with high-level political support and participation from multiple sectors including health, agriculture, education, and industry. The NAWG leads the coordination of anaemia activities at the national level, including strategy development, data generation and analysis, and development and roll-out of training curricula. Sierra Leone launched a National Anaemia Control Strategy, grounded in data from the National Micronutrient Survey (see **Box 7**). Anaemia is also incorporated into multisectoral nutrition plans in countries such as Nepal and the Philippines.

Action area 5. Expand research, learning and innovation

Research and learning have led to significant improvements in preventing, diagnosing and managing anaemia. Questions remain and others arise, implying a need for further investment to expand the evidence on effective interventions and innovative approaches to delivering them.

There is limited information about the effectiveness of integrated, multisectoral anaemia programmes. Because the reach of current interventions may be inadequate, implementation research will be useful to determine how best to increase this reach, as well as how to best increase the use of health facilities. Some interventions have unpleasant side effects that discourage people from carrying them through (for example, higher dose iron supplements are not tolerated by all due to adverse gastrointestinal effects). Innovations may help develop effective interventions without side effects. There are also issues with haemoglobin assessment, which could benefit from new and innovative approaches. Moreover, point-of-use assays to determine iron status can help increase effectiveness by leading to more targeted interventions.

BOX 5



Community engagement to strengthen leadership commitment to addressing social determinants of health in Oman

In recent decades, Oman has undergone rapid economic growth and human development. Oman reduced maternal and child mortality (54,55), increased life expectancy (56), and is the one country in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region where the prevalence of anaemia in women, pregnant women and children has declined (57–59). Actions include food fortification (mandatory iron and folic acid fortification of wheat flour and vitamins A and D fortification of vegetable oils); supplementation (iron, folate, vitamin A), and nutrition education (food-based dietary guidelines). Iron deficiency anaemia contributes to less than half of the national burden of anaemia (60). Oman experiences low numbers of malaria cases and genetic disorders. Simultaneously, however, there has been an increase in non-communicable diseases. In 2020, Oman introduced taxes (specifically on alcohol and on sweetened drinks) which aim to promote healthier lifestyles — a goal made more urgent by the alarmingly high rate of overweight and obesity (59%) among Omani women (60,61).

The national commitment to addressing social determinants of health and health inequities is evidenced in Oman's reforms that ensure geographical and financial access to free primary health care for all (62). As a result, over 90% of the population now lives within five kilometres of a primary healthcare facility, and has nearly universal access to health care. Oman's ambitious Birth Spacing Program was initiated in 1994, when Oman had one of the world's highest fertility rates (6.9 children per woman), to improve the survival and well-being of mothers and their children (63). Broader social changes—such as delayed marriage, an increase in the number of educated women, growing participation in the workforce, and birth spacing—led to a decreased fertility rate (64). Oman has near universal school enrolment, and access to improved sanitation facilities and drinking water (65). Local initiatives, such as Community Support Groups and Wilayat Health Teams, strengthen community participation in the planning and implementation of programmes. This has been crucial for ensuring that health and social services meet the needs and expectations of local communities (44). These initiatives have reinforced the active role played by members of each community in developing and improving their health and well-being (58).

BOX 6



Multipronged approach to reduce anaemia in India

In 2018 the Government of India launched the nationwide Anemia Mukt Bharat (AMB) or Anaemia Free India strategy. This strategy aimed to reduce the prevalence of anaemia by three percentage points per year among children, adolescents and women aged 15–49 years up to 2022 (66). It built upon earlier anaemia control programmes in India, leveraged existing health system platforms and focused on multiple causes of anaemia including nutrition, infection, and hemoglobinopathies.

The AMB involved numerous stakeholders at national and state levels through institutional mechanisms. For example, the National Centre of Excellence and Advanced Research on Anemia Control (NCEAR-A) was established under the All India Institute of Medical Sciences. It provided technical support to the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (MoHFW) in developing a multisectoral approach for policy-making, programme guidelines and programme implementation for anaemia control. The NCEAR-A supported the MoHFW in conducting partners' meetings to help ensure convergence and collaboration. The NCEAR-A also supported the training of over 1000 Master Trainers on anaemia, and the scaling up of digital hemoglobinometers. It advocated for food fortification, and supported research on parenteral iron, multiple micronutrient supplements, and hemoglobinopathies.

The AMB strategy focused on learning from past experience. Although India has implemented iron and folic acid supplementation programmes since the 1970s, bottlenecks in the supply chain adversely affected programme coverage. A nationwide supply chain assessment held in 2019–20 under the AMB informed the development of a review framework for measuring key performance indicators and their determinants, in order to streamline policy efforts (67).

The AMB brought about important innovations, including an e-module for training health workers, and centralized denominator-based reporting. T3 (Test, Treat, and Talk) camps were held to generate demand for anaemia control efforts, promote active community participation and foster partnerships to improve the visibility of anaemia and raise awareness about it among the general public. These camps were later implemented nationally by the Government as a social and behavioural change communication tool.

A more comprehensive understanding of the causes and risk factors for anaemia in a given setting or context is important, particularly in countries, states and districts where the burden is highest. In many cases, limited knowledge and misperceptions of the pathways to anaemia stand in the way of solutions, both in closing the anaemia disparity gap and in preventing and treating anaemia.

The current economic arguments are limited to anaemias due to iron deficiency. More robust and comprehensive estimates are needed, and analyses of the cost and value for money must be improved to strengthen the economic and human capital case for urgent investment. Existing data from multiple sectors can be brought together for analysis of what is working well and where there are areas for improvement. The research working group of the Anaemia Action Alliance has identified two crucial issues to address as we work towards the 2025 and 2030 global targets on anaemia. These include 1) a better understanding of the anaemia burden through more reliable assessments of haemoglobin concentration, and 2) how we can best prevent, identify and treat the multiple causes of anaemia simultaneously.

BOX 7

ííí

An analysis of data changed priorities in Sierra Leone

In Sierra Leone, anaemia was recognized as a severe public health problem, particularly among children (76%), women (45%) and pregnant women (70%). To update the national response, the Government established the National Anemia Working Group, a multisectoral coordination structure with high-level endorsements. The group had access to country-specific anaemia-related data from sources including a national Demographic and Health Survey, a Malaria Indicators Survey, a Micronutrient Survey, and a landscape analysis describing the anaemia situation in the country (41).

Data showed that the prevalence of iron deficiency was low. The main contributors to the anaemia burden in Sierra Leone were found to be infections (malaria, respiratory tract infections and diarrhoea) and inflammation; haemoglobinopathies were not measured. It became clear that there was a mismatch between the contributors to anaemia and the interventions that were in place. This surprised the working group, who moved to correct the response by developing the National Multi-Sectoral Strategy to Prevent and Control Anaemia (2018–2025) (42). Based on the new evidence, the strategy prioritizes the prevention and control of infections, prevention of chronic infections, reproductive health care, micronutrient intake, education of girls and women, and integrated delivery platforms.



Path forward

This framework builds on current global plans, strategies, guidelines and reviews (see **Selected further reading**). It will be complemented by operational guidance to elaborate on how to strengthen coordination within and across sectors and systems, and a monitoring framework for assessing progress.

Anaemia is – and must be addressed as – a public health issue having serious health, development and economic consequences across the life course for individuals, families, communities and countries.

Accelerating anaemia reduction requires leadership and investment in multipronged societal approaches that urgently prioritize the health and well-being of women, adolescent girls and children.

Stakeholders have different roles to play

Member States can be champions for optimizing the health and well-being of every woman, adolescent girl and child. This means prioritizing the prevention and reduction of anaemia; designing rigorous research studies; collecting and using data to inform action; developing, financing and implementing policies, plans and strategies that are equitable; mobilizing investments.

Civil society can advocate, mobilize communities, and monitor commitments. Its role is crucial in contributing to national discourse on topics related to anaemia reduction, including health, education, environment, food and agriculture, labour and trade.

Academia, researchers and funding agencies can work together to generate evidence and to ensure it is produced in a way that makes it easy to use in making decisions. By including policymakers in research design, this group can better seek answers to the questions that governments have prioritized, including offering a more nuanced understanding of how risk factors for anaemia interact dynamically with each other and with environments. They can also advocate for advancing innovation in diagnostics for anaemia and its underlying causes (for example, inherited red blood cell disorders and micronutrient deficiencies) as well as promoting implementation science.

International organizations can support Member States' leadership in developing national and sub-national strategies to accelerate anaemia reduction. They can foster innovation in people-centred and culturally appropriate tools and services, support implementation research to reduce malnutrition, malaria and other parasitic infections, as well as chronic diseases, and gynaecological and obstetric conditions. They can support the development of the economic argument for investment in accelerating anaemia reduction. Professional associations and societies (obstetrics, midwifery, paediatrics, educators, nutrition, labour, and so on) can educate association and society members, professionals (for example, clinicians and teachers), and the public about the importance of coming together to address anaemia comprehensively.

Media can inform the general population by telling human interest stories and reinforcing a more comprehensive narrative on anaemia. It can influence social norms, promote the use of health services, and strengthen demand for public accountability.

Anaemia is a strong indicator of overall health.

Anaemia has important economic consequences.

Advancement towards global targets is slow.

Strategies to reduce anaemia will now require a significantly different approach.

Key messages

- 1. Anaemia is a complex condition that must be addressed comprehensively, demanding strong leadership and collective action among multiple sectors.
- 2. There are multiple causes of anaemia, including micronutrient deficiencies, inflammation, infection, uterine bleeding, and inherited red blood cell disorders.
- 3. Anaemia has primarily been addressed through the nutrition lens, which is critical but not sufficient alone; rather, all causes must be addressed to effectively prevent and treat anaemia.
- 4. Effective coverage of a package of interventions to address anaemia at key moments in the life course is foundational for improving health and well-being, and for preventing the irreversible consequences of anaemia.
- 5. Anaemia remains a major public health problem, mainly affecting infants and children, menstruating adolescent girls and women, and pregnant and postpartum women.
- 6. The burden of anaemia is unevenly distributed among countries, regions, and population groups, highlighting the role of underlying risk factors, such as poverty, gender, social and environmental inequities.

References

- 1. Anaemia [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/ health-topics/anaemia, accessed 27 March 2023).
- Haas JD, Brownlie T 4th. Iron deficiency and reduced work capacity: a critical review of the research to determine a causal relationship. J Nutr. 2001;131:676S-688S. doi: 10.1093/ jn/131.2.676S.
- 3. Scott SP, Chen-Edinboro LP, Caulfield LE, Murray-Kolb LE. The impact of anemia on child mortality: an updated review. Nutrients. 2014;6:5915–32. doi: 10.3390/nu6125915
- 4. Jung J, Rahman MM, Rahman MS, Swe KT, Islam MR, Rahman MO, Akter S. Effects of hemoglobin levels during pregnancy on adverse maternal and infant outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1450:69–82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14112.
- Larson LM, Kubes JN, Ramírez-Luzuriaga MJ, Khishen S, Shankar AH, Prado EL. Effects of increased hemoglobin on child growth, development, and disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1450:83–104. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14105.
- 6. Chaparro CM, Suchdev PS. Anemia epidemiology, pathophysiology, and etiology in low- and middle-income countries. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1450:15–31. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14092
- Nutritional anaemias: Tools for effective prevention and control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259425, accessed 05 April 2023).
- Global anaemia reduction efforts among women of reproductive age: impact, achievement of targets and the way forward for optimizing efforts. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336559, accessed 05 April 2023).
- Stevens GA, Paciorek CJ, Flores-Urrutia MC, Borghi E, Namaste S, Wirth JP et al. National, regional, and global estimates of anaemia by severity in women and children for 2000–19: a pooled analysis of population-representative data. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10:e627–39. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00084-5.
- Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Noori M, Nejadghaderi SA, Karamzad N, Bragazzi NL et al. Burden of anemia and its underlying causes in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. J Hematol Oncol. 2021;14:185. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01202-2.
- Anaemia in women and children. In: The Global Health Observatory [database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/anaemia_in_ women_and_children, accessed 08 May 2023).
- Marcus H, Schauer C, Zlotkin S. Effect of anemia on work productivity in both labor- and nonlabor-intensive occupations: a systematic narrative synthesis. Food Nutr Bull. 2021;42:289–308. doi:1 0.1177/03795721211006658.
- 13. Walters D, Kakietek J, Eberwein JD, Shekar M. An investment framework for meeting the global nutrition target for anemia. Washington DC: World Bank; 2017.
- Comprehensive implementation plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/113048, accessed 05 April 2023).
- Global indicator framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (E/CN.3/2020/2). New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2020.

- Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2020: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and UNDESA/Population Division. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/366225, accessed 05 April 2023). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 17. UNICEF, United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation, World Bank Group, WHO. Levels and trends in child mortality. Report 2022. New York: UNICEF; 2022.
- 18. Global targets tracking tool [database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www. who.int/tools/global-targets-tracking-tool, accessed 27 March 2023).
- Wirth JP, Woodruff BA, Engle-Stone R, Namaste SM, Temple VJ, Petry N et al. Predictors of anemia in women of reproductive age: Biomarkers Reflecting Inflammation and Nutritional Determinants of Anemia (BRINDA) project. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;106(Suppl 1):4165–427S. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.116.143073.
- Petry N, Olofin I, Hurrell RF, Boy E, Wirth JP, Moursi M et al. The proportion of anemia associated with iron deficiency in low, medium, and high Human Development Index countries: a systematic analysis of national surveys. Nutrients. 2016;8:693. doi: 10.3390/nu8110693.
- The global prevalence of anaemia in 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/177094, accessed 03 May 2023).
- Hess SY, Owais A, Jefferds MED, Young MF, Cahill A, Rogers LM. Accelerating action to reduce anemia: review of causes and risk factors and related data needs. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2023;10.1111/nyas.14985. doi:10.1111/nyas.14985.
- Reorienting health systems to primary health care as a resilient foundation for universal health coverage and preparations for a high-level meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ ebwha/pdf_files/EB152/B152_5-en.pdf, accessed 08 May 2023).
- Report of the fourth meeting of the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts for maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition, 9–11 November 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/ default-source/mca-documents/stage/8-11-nov-2021-meeting/stage-meeting-report-nov-2021-v2. pdf?sfvrsn=97f89f92_5, accessed 27 March 2023).
- Report of the fifth Meeting of the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts for maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition, 10–12 May 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/360840, accessed 05 April 2023).
- Anger H, Durocher J, Dabash R, Winikoff B. How well do postpartum blood loss and common definitions of postpartum hemorrhage correlate with postpartum anemia and fall in hemoglobin? PLoS One. 2019;14:e0221216. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221216.
- Anemia in pregnancy. Washington DC: USAID Advancing Nutrition; 2022 (https://www.advancingnutrition.org/sites/default/files/2022-10/usaid-an-anemia-pregnancy-brief-2022.pdf, accessed 27 March 2023).
- WHO recommendations: Uterotonics for the prevention of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/277276, accessed 05 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Daru J, Zamora J, Fernández-Félix BM, Vogel J, Oladapo OT, Morisaki N et al. Risk of maternal mortality in women with severe anaemia during pregnancy and post partum: a multilevel analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2018;6:e548–54. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30078-0.

- Romanello M, McGushin A, Di Napoli C, Drummond P, Hughes N, Jamart L et al. The 2021 report of the Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: code red for a healthy future. Lancet. 2021;398:1619–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01787-6.
- 31. Climate change and health [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/climate-change-and-health, accessed 10 April 2023).
- Health [fact sheet]. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; 2023 (https://www.ipcc. ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/outreach/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FactSheet_Health.pdf, accessed 10 April 2023).
- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2021. Transforming food systems for food security, improved nutrition and affordable healthy diets for all. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2021 (https://doi.org/10.4060/ cb4474en, accessed 18 April 2023).
- Food and Water [fact sheet]. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; 2023 (https:// www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/outreach/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FactSheet_FoodAndWater. pdf, accessed 10 April 2023).
- Garcia Casal MN, Dary O, Jefferds ME, Pasricha SR. Diagnosing anaemia: challenges selecting methods, addressing underlying causes, and implementing actions at the public health level. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2023; 10.1111/nyas.14996. doi:10.1111/nyas.14996.
- Indicators. In: Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (VMNIS) [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/teams/nutrition-and-food-safety/databases/vitamin-and-mineral-nutrition-information-system, accessed 08 May 2023).
- Helminth control in school age children: a guide for managers of control programmes, 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44671, accessed 03 May 2023).
- Understanding anemia: guidance for conducting a landscape analysis [website]. Arlington: Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations in Nutrition Globally (SPRING), United States Agency for International Development (USAID); 2017 (https://www.spring-nutrition.org/ publications/tools/anemia-landscape-analysis-tool, accessed 27 March 2023).
- District assessment tool for anemia (DATA). Arlington: Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations in Nutrition Globally (SPRING), United States Agency for International Development (USAID); 2017 (https://www.spring-nutrition.org/publications/tools/district-assessment-tool-anemia-data, accessed 27 March 2023).
- Global Diet Quality Score Toolkit. Washington, DC: Intake Center for Dietary Assessment/ FHI Solutions; 2022 (https://www.intake.org/sites/default/files/2022-10/GDQS_Toolkit_ Final_6Oct2022_2.pdf, accessed 10 April 2023).
- A landscape analysis of anemia and anemia programming in Sierra Leone. Arlington: Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations in Nutrition Globally (SPRING), United States Agency for International Development (USAID); 2015 (https://www.spring-nutrition.org/sites/default/files/ publications/reports/spring_sierra_leone_anemia_landscape_analysis_2.pdf, accessed 27 March 2023).
- 42. Multi-sectoral anemia efforts at the national level in Sierra Leone: process documentation findings. Arlington: Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations in Nutrition Globally (SPRING), United States Agency for International Development (USAID); 2018 (https://www.spring-nutrition.org/sites/ default/files/publications/reports/spring_sierra_l_anemia_report_2018.pdf, accessed 27 March 2023).

- 43. Lopez de Romaña D, Golan J, Mildon A, Jefferds MED, Rogers LM, Arabi M. Review of intervention products for use in the prevention and control of anemia. Ann NY Acad Sci; (in press).
- WHO recommendations: non-clinical interventions to reduce unnecessary caesarean sections. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275377, accessed 03 May 2023).
- 45. Nguyen PH, Khu`o`ng LQ, Pramanik P, Pramanik P, Billah SM, Menon P, Piwoz E et al. Effective coverage of nutrition interventions across the continuum of care in Bangladesh: insights from nationwide cross-sectional household and health facility surveys. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e040109. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-040109.
- Siekmans K, Roche M, Kung'u JK, Desrochers RE, De-Regil LM. Barriers and enablers for iron folic acid (IFA) supplementation in pregnant women. Matern Child Nutr. 2018;14 (Suppl 5):e12532. doi:10.1111/mcn.12532.
- Alfiah E, Briawan D, Khomsan A, Dewi M, Ekayanti I, Mardewi et al. Coverage and adherence of weekly iron folic acid supplementation among school going adolescent girls in Indonesia. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2020; (Suppl.):S118–S121. doi:10.3177/jnsv.66.S118.
- Petry N, Olofin I, Hurrell RF, Boy E, Wirth JP, Moursi M et al. The proportion of anemia associated with iron deficiency in low, medium, and high human development index countries: a systematic analysis of national surveys. Nutrients. 2016;8:693. doi: 10.3390/nu8110693.
- 49. Mildon A, Lopez de Romaña D, Jefferds MED, Rogers L, Arabi M. Integrating and coordinating programmes for the management of anaemia across the life course. Ann NY Acad Sci. (in press).
- 50. De-Regil LM, Peña-Rosas JP, Flores-Ayala R, del Socorro Jefferds ME. Development and use of the generic WHO/CDC logic model for vitamin and mineral interventions in public health programmes. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17:634–9. doi:10.1017/S1368980013000554.
- Logic model for micronutrient interventions in public health: Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/250746, accessed 27 March 2023).
- 52. Malaria surveillance, monitoring & evaluation: a reference manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272284, accessed 10 April 2023).
- 53. A compendium of indicators for monitoring and evaluating progress of the road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365511, accessed 03 IMay 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO).
- 54. Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2020: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and UNDESA/Population Division. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/366225, accessed 02 May 2023). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 55. Levels & trends in child mortality: report 2022. Estimates developed by the United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. New York: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); 2023 (https://data.unicef.org/resources/levels-and-trends-in-child-mortality/, accessed 02 May 2023).
- 56. Global health estimates: life expectancy and leading causes of death and disability [database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/ghe-life-expectancy-and-healthy-life-expectancy, accessed 02 May 2023).

- 57. Human development report 2010. The real wealth of nations: pathways to human development. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2010 (https://hdr.undp.org/system/files/ documents/human-development-report-2010-complete-english.human-development-report-2010-complete-english, accessed 27 March 2023).
- Al-Mandhari A, Alsiyabi H, Al Rabhi S, Al-Adawi SSH, Al-Adawi S. Oman: paradigm change: healthy villages to meet tomorrow's health needs. In: Healthcare systems: future predictions for global care. CRC Press; 2018:319–25.
- Al-Jawaldeh A, Taktouk M, Doggui R, Abdollahi Z, Achakzai B, Aguenaou H et al. Are countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region on track towards meeting the World Health Assembly target for anemia? A review of evidence. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:2449. doi:10.3390/ ijerph18052449.
- 60. Ministry of Health-Oman and UNICEF. Oman National Nutrition Survey. Muscat: Ministry of Health; 2017.
- Schulkes P. Balancing the books: a deep dive into fiscal policy and diversification in Oman. Washington DC: Middle East Institute Policy Center; 2022 (https://www.mei.edu/publications/balancing-books-deep-dive-fiscal-policy-and-diversification-oman, accessed 27 March 2023).
- 62. Promising practice Oman [presentation]. Primary Health Care Performance Initiative; 2020. (https://www.improvingphc.org/sites/default/files/Oman%20Promising%20Practive%20%20 v1.0%20-%20last%20updated%204.6.2020.pdf, accessed 27 March 2023).
- 63. Birth spacing standard operating procedures, 3rd edition. Muscat: Ministry of Health; 2012 (https://www.moh.gov.om/documents/272928/4017900/Birth+spacing+guidelines.pdf/74ce32cd-3b80-2a7a-8344-3a3f4dc2ab8d, accessed 23 March 2023).
- 64. Drysdale A. Population dynamics and birth spacing in Oman. Int J Middle East Stud. 2010;42:123–44.
- 65. Oman health profile 2015. Cairo: WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/253772, accessed 05 April 2023).
- 66. Anemia Mukt Bharat 6x6x6 strategy [website]. New Delhi: Ministry of Health and Family Welfare; 2023 (https://anemiamuktbharat.info/6x6x6-strategy/, accessed 12 April 2023).
- 67. Ahmad K, Singh J, Singh RA, Saxena A, Varghese M, Ghosh S et al. Public health supply chain for iron and folic acid supplementation in India: Status, bottlenecks and an agenda for corrective action under Anemia Mukt Bharat strategy. PLoS One. 2023;18:e0279827. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0279827.

Selected further reading

The following existing resources provide data and information that reinforce the rationale for this framework and can support implementation. This compilation aims to include those key documents and resources with direct linkages to the framework.

Strategies

Comprehensive implementation plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition (2014)

Ending the neglect to attain the Sustainable Development Goals: a global strategy on water, sanitation and hygiene to combat neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030

Ending the neglect to attain the Sustainable Development Goals: A road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030

Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health (2016-2030)

World Health Assembly Resolutions and Reports

World Health Assembly Resolution 59.20 Sickle-cell anaemia (2006)

World Health Assembly Resolution 65.6 Comprehensive Implementation Plan on Maternal, Infant and Young Child Nutrition and global nutrition targets (2012)

World Health Assembly Resolution 69.2 Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health (2016–2030) (2016)

World Health Assembly Resolution 69.8 United Nations Decade of Action on Nutrition (2016–2025) (2016)

Behavioural sciences for better health initiative. Seventy-fifth World Health Assembly, Geneva, May 2022. Report by the Director-General (WHA75/2022/18.2).

WHO Guidelines

Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases: Intervention strategies

Essential nutrition actions: mainstreaming nutrition through the life-course

Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups

Helminth control in school-age children: a guide for managers of control programmes -- Second edition

WHO guideline on control and elimination of human schistosomiasis

WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being

- WHO guideline on use of ferritin concentrations to assess iron status in individuals and populations
- WHO Guidelines for malaria
- WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience
- WHO recommendations on maternal and newborn care for a positive postnatal experience

Reviews, policy briefs and implementation tools

Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases. Data platforms and tools: Collection, management and analysis of data

Deworming adolescent girls and women of reproductive age. Policy brief

Global anaemia reduction efforts among women of reproductive age: impact, achievement of targets and the way forward for optimizing efforts

Global nutrition targets 2025: Anaemia policy brief

Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity

Infant and young child feeding counselling: an integrated course: trainer's guide, 2nd ed.

Management of haemoglobin disorders: report of a joint WHO-TIF meeting

Monitoring flour fortification to maximize health benefits: a manual for millers, regulators, and programme managers

Nutritional anaemias: tools for effective prevention and control

The urgent need to implement patient blood management: policy brief

Weekly iron and folic acid supplementation as an anaemia-prevention strategy in women and adolescent girls

Annex. WHO recommended interventions by outcome (see Web Annex for additional details on individual interventions)

Table A1. Recommended interventions to improve micronutrient status (Outcome 1)

Intervention	Context/setting (All settings vs targeted)	Platform	WHO guidance	Essential Medicine List
SOCIAL PROTECTION				
Promote gender equality and women's empowerment	All		(1,2)	-
Support income-generating activities for women (poverty alleviation)	All	Formal and informal workplaces	(3,4)	-
Support early child development (universal, comprehensive, high-quality early childhood education and care; reduce child poverty)	All		(4)	-
EDUCATION				
Promote educational opportunities for women and girls, particularly those from marginalized and excluded groups	All	Schools, workplaces	(4)	-
Health care provider messaging about causes and consequences of anaemia	All	Community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, hospitals		-
Social and behaviour change communication strategies for anaemia and relevant interventions	All	Community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, hospitals, schools, workplaces		-
ENVIRONMENT & WASH				
Promote safe food production and handling (5 keys to safer foods)	All	Community health, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(5,6)	-
FOOD & AGRICULTURE				
Create a food environment that enables people to adopt and maintain healthy dietary practices	All		(7,8)	-

Increase production and consumption of nutrient-rich foods	All		(9–11)	-
Fortify staple foods with vitamins and minerals	Settings where the food vehicle to be fortified is commonly consumed		(12–15)	-
HEALTH & NUTRITION				
Promote optimal timing of umbilical cord clamping	All	Hospitals, primary care community health	(16,17) Rec 44	-
Counselling on nutrition, food safety and healthy diet (dietary modification and diversification)	All	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, schools, workplaces	(18,19) Rec Al.1	-
Complementary feeding of infants and young children 6–23 months of age	All	Community health, primary care	(20–22)	-
Preventive micronutrient supplem	entation			
Iron supplementation for children				
Daily iron supplementation for infants and young children aged 6–23 months and children 2–12 years	Populations where the prevalence of anaemia in children is 40% or higher	Community health,	(23)	(24)
Intermittent iron supplementation for children aged 2-12 years	Populations where the prevalence of anaemia in children is 20% or higher	primary care, schools	(25)	Ferrous salt
Iron supplementation for menstrua	ting adolescent girls and	non-pregnant women		
Daily iron supplementation for menstruating non-pregnant adolescent girls	Populations where the prevalence of anaemia in women is 40% or higher	Community health, primary	(26)	(27)
Intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation for menstruating non-pregnant adolescent girls and women	Populations where the prevalence of anaemia among women is 20% or higher	health, primary care, schools, workplaces	(28)	Ferrous salt

Iron and folic acid supplementation for pregnant women

Daily iron and folic acid supplementation	All		<i>(29)</i> Rec 10b	
Intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation	In situations where daily iron is not acceptable due to side effects, and in populations with an anaemia prevalence less than 20%	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, schools, workplaces	(18) Rec A2.1 and A2.2	<i>(27)</i> Ferrous salt + folic acid
Iron supplementation for postpartum women	Populations with a 20% or higher prevalence of gestational anaemia	Hospitals, community health, primary care, PNC, workplaces	(29) Rec 10c (30) Rec 20	(27) Ferrous salt
Folic acid supplementation	Non-pregnant women	Community health, primary care, schools, workplaces	(29) Rec 10a (31,32)	<i>(27)</i> Folic acid
Preventive multiple micronutrient supplementation	Individuals with tuberculosis disease and populations affected by an emergency in situations where fortified foodsare unavailable	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC	(33,34)	(27) Multiple micronutrient supplements
Therapeutic micronutrient supplementation (folic acid, iron, vitamin B12, vitamin C)	All affected	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC	(35,36)	(24,27) Ferrous salt, folic acid, hydroxycobalamin, ascorbic acid, retinol, riboflavin
Point-of-use fortification with iron-containing multiple micronutrient powders for infants and young children aged 6–23 months and children aged 2–12 years	Populations where the prevalence of anaemia is 20% or higher in children	Community health, primary care, schools	(3 <i>7</i>)	(24) Multiple micronutrient powder
Screening to detect nutrient deficiencies, with provision of appropriate follow-up	Targeted	Hospitals, primary care, community health	(35,38)	(39)
Assessment and management of anaemia	Targeted	Hospitals, primary care, community health	(18,35,36)	(39)

ANC, antenatal care; PNC, postnatal care.

Table A2. Recommended interventions to reduce infection, inflammation, and chronic diseases (Outcome 2)

Intervention	Context/setting (All settings vs targeted)	Platform	WHO guidance	Essential Medicine List
SOCIAL PROTECTION				
Improve access to health care services and interventions	All		(40)	-
Promote core components of the right to health (availability, accessibility, acceptability, quality)	All	Community health, primary care ANC, PNC, hospitals	(41)	-
EDUCATION				
Promote general education for women and girls	All	Community health, schools		-
Health care provider messaging about causes and consequences of anaemia	All	Community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, hospitals		-
Social and behaviour change communication strategies for anaemia and relevant interventions	All	Community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, hospitals, schools, workplaces		-
ENVIRONMENT & WASH				
Improve access to safe drinking water	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(5,42)	-
Promote hand hygiene	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(43,44)	-
Safe sanitation systems and practices (access to and use of toilets that safely contain excreta; access to safe systems along the entire sanitation service chain, including food production)	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(45)	-

production)

FOOD & AGRICULTURE				
Promote safe food handling (5 keys to safer foods)	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(5,6)	-
HEALTH & NUTRITION				
Screen for chronic diseases	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, schools, workplaces	(46,47)	-
Counselling on nutrition, food safety and healthy diet (dietary modification and diversification)	All	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, schools, workplaces	(18) Rec Al.1 (19)	-
Screen for malaria, tuberculosis a	nd other infectious disec	ases		
Diagnose malaria with a parasitological test (microscopy or RDT)	Malaria-endemic regions	Community health, primary care, hospitals	(48) Sec 5.1 (35,36)	(49)
Case management of malaria				
Treat malaria (uncomplicated, artemisinin-combination) Treat malaria in the first trimester of pregnancy uncomplicated P. falciparum with artemether-lumefantrine)	Targeted	Community health, primary care, hospitals, ANC	(48) Sec 5.2 (35,36)	(24,27) Antimalarial medicines
Prevent malaria				
Vector control				
Indoor residual spraying to reduce malariatransmission	Populations at risk of malaria	Community health	(48) Sec 4.1	<i>(50)</i> Prequalified vector control products
Long-lasting insecticide-treated nets		Community health, primary care, ANC, schools, workplaces	(48) Sec 4.1.1	-
Chemoprevention				
Perennial malaria chemoprevention (PMC)	Populations at risk of malaria	Community health, primary care	(48) Sec 4.2.2	(24,27) Antimalarial medicines

Seasonal malaria chemoprevention (SMC)	Populations at risk of malaria	Community health, primary care	(48) Sec 4.2.3	
Intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in school-aged children	Malaria endemic settings with moderate to high perennial or seasonal transmission	Community health, primary care, schools	(<i>48</i>) Sec 4.2.4	
Intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy	Populations at risk of malaria	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, workplaces	(48) Sec 4.2.1	
Post-discharge malaria chemoprevention	Children with severe anaemia living in settings with moderate to high malaria transmission	Community health, primary care, hospitals	(48) Sec 4.2.5	
Chemotherapy (oral anthelminthic medicines — that is, deworming) for prevention and treatment of soil-transmitted helminth infections and schistosomiasis	Preschool children, school aged children, and women aged 15–49 years in endemic areas	Community health, primary care, schools, HPV vaccination sites, hospitals	(35,36, 51–55)	(24,27) Anthelminthics
Assessment and management of anaemia	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC	(18) Rec B1.1 (35,36)	(39)
Blood and blood products for transfusion in the treatment of severe anaemia	Targeted	Hospitals	(35,36)	(24,27) Blood and blood components
Vitamin A supplementation for infants and children with measles	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care	(35,56)	(24) retinol
High dose vitamin A supplementation for infants and young children 6–59 months of age	Populations where the prevalence of vitamin A deficiency is 20% or higher in infants and children 6–59 months of age	Community health, primary care	(57)	(24) retinol

ANC, antenatal care; PNC, postnatal care.

Table A3. Recommended interventions to reduce gynaecological and obstetric conditions (for example, abnormal uterine bleeding) (Outcome 3)

Intervention	Context/setting (All settings vs targeted)	Platform	WHO guidance	Essential Medicine List
SOCIAL PROTECTION				
Promote gender equality and women's empowerment	All		(1,2)	-
Support income-generating activities for women (poverty alleviation)	All		(3,4)	-
EDUCATION				
Promote girls' and women's reproductive health education (counselling about birth spacing and family planning)	All	Community health, primary care, schools, workplaces	(58)	-
Social and behaviour change communication for anaemia and relevant interventions	All	Community health, primary care, ANC, PNC, hospitals, schools, workplaces		-
ENVIRONMENT & WASH				
Improve hand hygiene practices	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(43,44)	-
Safe sanitation systems and practices (access to and use of toilets that safely contain excreta; access to safe systems along the entire sanitation service chain)	All	Community health, primary care, schools, hospitals, workplaces	(45)	-
HEALTH & NUTRITION				
Assess and manage anaemia	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care	(18) Rec B1.1 (36)	(39)
Screen for chronic diseases	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, schools, workplaces	(46,47)	-
Improve menstrual health	Menstruating girls and women	Community health, primary care, schools, workplaces		-

Prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents	All older adolescents	Community health, primary care, schools	(59)	-
Use of hormonal contraceptives	Targeted	Community health, primary care	(58,60,61)	(27) Contraceptives
Prevention and treatment of heavy menstrual losses	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC	(61)	(27) Contraceptives
Prevent and treat antepartum and postpartum haemorrhage	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC, PNC	(16,62–65)	(27) Uterotonics
Reduce unnecessary caesarean section	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, ANC	(66)	

ANC, antenatal care; PNC, postnatal care.

Table A4. Recommended interventions to improve screening and management of inherited red blood cell disorders (Outcome 4)

Intervention	Context/setting (All settings vs targeted)	Platform	WHO guidance	Essential Medicine List
SOCIAL PROTECTION				
Improve access to and financial support for health care services	All			-
Establish patient support groups and supportive activities for vulnerable groups	Targeted			-
Develop and implement policies on employment for patients with sickle cell disease				-
EDUCATION				
Raise public awareness in schools, communities, health institutions, media and associations	All	Community health, primary care, schools, workplaces		-
Social and behaviour change communication strategies	All	Community health, primary care, schools, workplaces		-

Assess and manage anaemia	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care	(18) Rec B1.1 (35,36)	(39)
Genetic testing and counselling for inherited red blood cell disorder	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care	(36)	(39)
Newborn screening for haemoglobinopathies	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care, PNC		
Management of sickle-cell disease	Targeted	Hospitals, community health, primary care	(36)	(39)
Manage thalassaemia (major)	Targeted	Community health, primary care, schools	(36)	(39)
Comprehensive health care management	Targeted	Community health, primary care		

HEALTH & NUTRITION

PNC, postnatal care.

References

- Knowledge summary: women's, children's and adolescents' health. 37. Adolescent empowerment and engagement for health and well-being: strengthening capacities, opportunities and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/333759, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Promoting women's empowerment for better health outcomes for women and children. Strategy brief for the Inter Ministerial Conference on South-South Cooperation in Post ICDP and MDGs, Beijing, China 22–23 October, 2013. Geneva: The Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health; 2013 (https://pmnch.who.int/docs/librariesprovider9/meeting-reports/sb_gender.pdf, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 3. Reducing stunting in children: equity considerations for achieving the Global Nutrition Targets 2025. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260202, accessed 07 April 2023).
- Saunders M, Barr B, McHale P, Hamelmann C. Health Evidence Network synthesis report 52. Key policies for addressing the social determinants of health and health inequities. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/326286, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 5. WHO, USAID, UNICEF. Improving nutrition outcomes with better water, sanitation and hygiene: practical solutions for policies and programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/193991, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 6. Five keys to safer food manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43546, accessed 07 April 2023)
- 7. Nudges to promote healthy eating in schools: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/354562, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 8. Healthy diet fact sheet [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ healthy-diet, accessed 07 April 2023).

- 9. How together we can make the world's most healthy and sustainable public food procurement. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/363337, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 10. Food systems delivering better health: executive summary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/343374, accessed 07 April 2021). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Action framework for developing and implementing public food procurement and service policies for a healthy diet. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/338525, accessed 07 April 2021). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 12. Guideline: fortification of wheat flour with vitamins and minerals as a public health strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/354783, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Guideline: fortification of rice with vitamins and minerals as a public health strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272535, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 14. Fortification of maize flour and corn meal with vitamins and minerals. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/251902, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 15. Allen L, de Benoist B, Dary O, Hurrell R, editors. Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43412, accessed 07 April 2023).
- WHO recommendations: intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260178, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Guideline: delayed umbilical cord clamping for improved maternal and infant health and nutrition outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/148793, accessed 07 April 2023).
- WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250796, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 19. Healthy eating during pregnancy and breastfeeding: booklet for mothers. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2001 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/347891, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 20. Guiding principles for feeding non-breastfed children 6–24 months of age. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/43281, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 21. Guiding principles for complementary feeding of the breastfed child. Washington DC: Pan American Health Organization; 2003 (https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/752, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 22. Complementary feeding: family foods for breastfed children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/66389, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 23. Guideline: daily iron supplementation in infants and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204712, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 24. World Health Organization model list of essential medicines for children: 8th list (2021). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345534, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 25. Guideline: intermittent iron supplementation in preschool and school-age children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44648, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 26. Guideline: daily iron supplementation in adult women and adolescent girls. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/204761, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 27. World Health Organization model list of essential medicines: 22nd list (2021). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345533, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IG
- Guideline: intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation in menstruating women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44649, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 29. WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being, 2022 revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/357828, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 30. WHO recommendations on maternal and newborn care for a positive postnatal experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352658, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

- 31. Meeting to develop a global consensus on preconception care to reduce maternal and childhood mortality and morbidity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/78067, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 32. Integrated management of pregnancy and childbirth. Standards for maternal and neonatal care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/69735, accessed 07 April 2023).
- Guideline: nutritional care and support for patients with tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/94836, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 34. WHO, World Food Programme, UNICEF. Preventing and controlling micronutrient deficiencies in populations affected by an emergency: Multiple vitamin and mineral supplements for pregnant and lactating women, and for children aged 6 to 59 months. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/nutritionlibrary/preventing-and-controllingmicronutrient-deficiencies-in-populations-affected-by-an-emergency.pdf, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 35. Pocket book of hospital care for children: guidelines for the management of common childhood illnesses, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/81170, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 36. IMAI district clinician manual: hospital care adolescents and adults: guidelines for the management of illnesses with limited-resources. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/77751, accessed 07 April 2023).
- 37. WHO guideline: use of multiple micronutrient powders for point-of-use fortification of foods consumed by infants and young children aged 6–23 months and children aged 2–12 years. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/252540, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Indicators. In: Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System (VMNIS) [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/teams/nutrition-and-food-safety/databases/vitamin-and-mineral-nutrition-information-system, accessed 27 March 2023).
- 39. The selection and use of essential in vitro diagnostics: report of the second meeting of the WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on In Vitro Diagnostics (including the second WHO model list of essential in vitro diagnostics). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/329527, accessed 07 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 40. Universal health coverage (UHC) fact sheet [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc), accessed 08 April 2023).
- 41. Human rights fact sheet [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ human-rights-and-healthhttps://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc), accessed 08 April 2023).
- 42. Guidelines for drinking-water quality: fourth edition incorporating the first and second addenda. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352532, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 43. Hand hygiene for all initiative: improving access and behaviour in health care facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336023, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 44. WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/44102, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 45. Guidelines on sanitation and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274939; accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 46. Screening programmes: a short guide. Increase effectiveness, maximize benefits and minimize harm. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330829, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Sagan A, McDaid D, Rajan S, Farrington J, McKee M. Screening: when is it appropriate and how can we get it right? Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330810, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 48. WHO guidelines for malaria, 14 March 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/366432, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 49. WHO-prequalified in vitro diagnostic products [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/ vitro-diagnostics/vitro-diagnostics-lists, accessed 08 April 2023).
- Requalified vector control products. In: WHO-Prequalification of medical productions (IVDs, medicines, vaccines and immunization devices, vector control) [database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/vector-controlproducts/prequalified-product-list, accessed 08 April 2023).

- 51. WHO guideline on control and elimination of human schistosomiasis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/351856; accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 52. UNICEF, WFP, WHO. Deworming adolescent girls and women of reproductive age: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351106, accessed 14 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 53. WHO, UNESCO. WHO guideline on school health services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/341910, accessed 14 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 54. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in at-risk population groups. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258983, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 55. Scaling-up HPV vaccine introduction. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251909, accessed 14 April 2023).
- WHO, International Vitamin A Consultative Group, UNICEF. Vitamin A supplements: a guide to their use in the treatment of vitamin A deficiency and xerophthalmia, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1997 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/41947, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 57. Guideline: vitamin A supplementation in infants and children 6–59 months of age. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44664, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 58. WHO, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health/Center for Communication Programmes (CCP), Knowledge SUCCESS. Family planning: a global handbook for providers, fourth edition. Baltimore and Geneva: CCP and World Health Organization; 2022 (https://fphandbook.org/sites/default/files/WHO-JHU-FPHandbook-2022Ed-v221114b.pdf, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 59. WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive health outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44691, accessed 08 April 2022).
- 60. Selected practice recommendations for contraceptive use, third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/252267, accessed 08 April 2023).
- Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use, fifth edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/181468, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 62. WHO recommendation on uterine balloon tamponade for the treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/340796, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 63. WHO recommendation on routes of oxytocin administration for the prevention of postpartum haemorrhage after vaginal birth. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336308, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 64. WHO recommendation on advance misoprostol distribution to pregnant women for prevention of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336310, accessed 08 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 65. WHO recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/75411, accessed 08 April 2023).
- 66. WHO recommendations: non-clinical interventions to reduce unnecessary caesarean sections. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275377, accessed 24 April 2023). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

www.who.int

